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INTRODUCTION

The following brief reports have been prepared by the
Historical Research Section of the Canadian Inventory of
Historic Building in an attempt to collect some data about
early Canadian architecture. They do not pretend to repre-
sent exhaustive research on any building: they are irregu- -
lar in the depth of information they contain, and they do
not attempt to cover all of the early, or even important
buildings in any community. Instead, they represent only a
selected sampling of interesting early Canadian building
which has been researched to obtain comparative data.

Any style denominations given to these buildings must
be considered temporary only. Final denominations will be
applied to conform with the definitions of Canadian styles
as they are outlined by the Architectural Analysis Section
of the Canadian Inventory of Historic Building.

This manuscript has been compiled for the use of CIHB
historians; consequently, it is organized in consecutive
geocode order. A geocode is comprised of 14 digits, e.qg.
06108000400472. The first group of digits (06108) indicates
the province and city or area; the second (0004) gives the
name of the street; the final five digits (00472) represent
the number of the street address at the time the.building

was recorded by the CHIB (in this case, 472).
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The centre four digits provide the key to the organiza-
tion of reports in this manuscript. A list of street geo-
codes or street names in geocode order is given below to
indicate their consecutive order. Buildings on the same

street will be found in order of their street address

number.

Geocode Street Name
06108000400000 Richmond Street
06108000500000 Western Road
06108000700000 York Street
06108000800000 King Street
06108000900000 Dundas Street
06108001000000 Queens Avenue
06108001600000 Central Avenue
06108001700000 Maitland Street
06108001800000 Picton Street
06108002200000 Talbot Street
06108002300000 Dufferin Avenue
06108002600000 Ridout Street North
06108002800000 Waterloo Street
06108003000000 Wellington Street
06108003400000 Sydenham Street
06108003500000 James Street

06108003600000

Wolfe Street



06108004500000 Piccadilly Street
06108007700000 Grosvenor Street

06108010700000 Hill Street
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Table of Contents By Street Address

Buildings are included in geocode order. This list has been

compiled to provide the convenience of retrieval by street

address.

Geocode

06108001600090
06108001600284
06108001600558"
06108002300180
06108002300182
06108002300368

06108000900566

06108007700036
06108010700575

06108003500177

06108000800404-406

06108000800545

06108001700369 1/2

06108004500235
06108001800028

06108001000518

Address

Central Avenue
Central Avenue
Central Avenue
Dufferin Avenue
Dufferin Avenue
Dufferin Avenue

Dundas Street

Grosvenor Street
Hill Street
James Street
King Street
King Street

Maitland Street

Building Name

"Blackfriars"

St. Peter's Basilica
St. Peter's Rectory

"Buchan House"
(formerly Oakhurst)

Piccadilly Street Eastern Star Temple

Picton Street

Queens Avenue



06108001000534
06108001000536
06108000400472
06108002600435
06108002600481
06108003400191
06108002200639
06108002800471
06108002800496

06108003000156

06108003000568
06108000501017
06108003600315

06108000700182

vii

Queens Avenue
Queens Avenue
Richmond Street
Ridout St. N.
Ridout St. N.
Sydenham Street
Talbot Street
Waterloo Street

Waterloo Street

"Fontbonne Hall"
"Worthy Place"
St. Paul's (Anglican)

Eldon House

Birkhill

Wellington Street Wellington Street

Wellington Street
Western Road
Wolfe Street

York Street

United Church

Grosvenor Lodge

Granite Block



Canadian Inventory of Hist::ic Building

- Historical Building Report

Historian: John H. Lutman

Date: January 1976

Geocode: 06108000501017
City: London, Ontario

Address: 1017 Western Road

Building Name:

Grosvenor Lodge
(1f important) d

Source of Title Photo: (CTHB

Building Information

Date of Construction: 1853

Architect: Samuel Peters, Jr., of Peters and Stent, Civil Engineers
and Architects
Builder:

Craftsmen (List Type) Demereau and Hines, bricklaying; Robert Lewis,
stained glass; Abe Tibbs, plastering, stonecarvers; Grant and Sons,
carpenters.

Name and occupation of original owner: Samuel Peters, Sr. — operator of

Notable subsequent owners and reason identified: abbatoir

James P. Dunn - editorial
writer for the London Free Press

Notable type of occupantsUpper middle class

tlotable occupants and reason identified:

Building use: Residential, single dwelling

Major building material: Brick (local white)
Alterations:

General Nature Date Architect Builder

Comments: This the finest of London's country estates. It was
built in 1853 for Samuel Peters, Sr., who was a leading London
businessman and the founder of London West.



1017 Western Road London, Ontario

"Grosvenor Lodge® is architecturally the finest of London's
country estates. It was built in 1853 for Samuel Peters,
Senior, who was a leading London businessman and the founder
of London West (Petersville).

Peters was born in Merton, Devonshire, England, and
worked as a civil engineer on the estate of Lord Clinton.
In June 1835, with his wife, Anne Philips of Frome in
Somerset, he left for Upper Canada. After short stays in
Montreal, Bytown, Kingston, and Hamilton, they arrived in
London, Ontario, where Peters secured a position with the
Canada Land Company in the Goderich area of the Huron Tract.
He surveyed there for a time, but returned to London to
enter the business community. He owned an abbatoir on
Ridout Street North on.the bank of the South Branch of the
Thames River and a distillery by the entrance to the
Blackfriar's Bridge in West London which crossed the North

1

Branch. He had purchased the distillery from John

Balkwill in 1850 for L3500.2 Peters' sons, Fred, John, and
William, assisted him in his business operations.3

The Peterses first lived on Ridout Street North, across

from the court house, and later further north on Ridout at



Carling, opposite the Bank of Upper Canada (06108002600435).
He did considerable survey work in London and surrounding
areas, and in the process acquired much land in London
Township.4 His importance in the community was testified
by the fact that, as a representative of Masonic Lodge 209-3,
he assisted Bishop John Strachan in 1855 to lay the corner-
stone of St. Paul's (Anglican) Cathedral5 (061080800400472).
In his survey work, Peters became interested in acquir-
ing land to the west of the then town of London, immediately
across the Thames River. The area had been surveyed as part
of London Township by Mahlon Burwell in 1818. The first
settler was John Kent, who arrived from England in 1823 and
farmed land on both sides of the Thames River. 1In 1828
Nixon and Hale established a brickyard in the vicinity. At
that time the locality was variously known as either
"Nixon's Flats" or "Kent's Flats". 1In 1852 Peters purchased
500 acres of the largely flood plain land from George Jervis
Goodhue, London's leading merchant. After the completion of
"Grosvenor Lodge" in 1853, it was Peter's domination of the
flats that resulted in the area being named "Petersville" on
its incorporation as a village in 1874.6 Located on a
rise of land to the north of the settlement, "Grosvenor
Lodge" was protected from floods that were a common occurence
in the area from 1867 until the Fanshawe Dam was completed
in 1953.7 In the early 1880s the name of the village was

changed to London West, reputedly because of the disfavour



with which many villagers looked upon the paternalistic
Peters family. In 1897 London West was annexed by the city
of London.8

Samuel Peters, Senior, died in 1864 and his son,
Colonel John Peters, moved into "Grosvenor Lodge". He had
married the former Constance Roberts of Buffalo, New York.
As an officer of the artillery and a justice of the peace,
he was prominent in London and area affairs. His daughter,
Lelia Gertrude Peters, who married James P. Dunn, an
editorial writer for the London Free Press,9 was the last
private occupant of the mansion.

Most of the original Peters property of 500 acres was
sold for suburban development. The family, however, gave
the site of St. George's Anglican Church on Wharncliffe Road
North. In recent years the house has rested in a verdant 15
acre park of trees, fields, and manicured lawns.

The architect of "Grosvenor Lodge" was Samuel Peters'
nephew, Samuel Peters, Junior,lO who, with Thomas Stent,
was a partner in the local firm of Peters and Stent, Civil

Engineers and Architects.ll

Peters, Junior, was one of
the leading surveyors, engineers, and architects of the city
and also designed the Covent Garden Market Building in 1853

and the Tecumseh House Hotel 1in 1854.12

Various contrac-
tors were involved in the construction of the lodge.
Demereau and Hines were responsible for the brick and stone-

work; Robert Lewis of Noble and Lewis, London, Ontario,



designed the stained glass; the carpentry was by Grant and
Sons, who operated a steam turning mill; and the plastering
was the work of Abe Tibbs of the city.13

The large two-and-one-half-storey mansion is a fine
example of the Tudor Gothic style,14 which was popular in
Britain at the time. The general design was influenced by a
manorial house in Merton, Devon, that Mrs. Peters
recalled.15 The white brick, which is the major building
material, was probably from one of the local brickyards.

Cut stone was used to cap the balanced gables, for the
finials, and to surround the windows. Stone plaques are
also found in either gable, in one of the entwined initials
" S.P." (Samuel Peters) and in the other the date "1853".
The stained glass is found in the sidelights and fanlight
about the door. 1In the latter appear in the form of a
Victorian loveknot the entwined initials "S." and "A." for
Samuel and Anne, the original owners.16 The verandah sur-
rounds three sides of the house.

The interior possesses many fine rooms. The dining
room fireplace is a handsome example of Gothic Revival
design in stone. There are many other fireplaces in the
house of black, gray, and white marble.17

In January 1972 the house and property was sold by Mrs.
James P. Dunn to the University of Western Ontario. She was

to have lifetime occupancy of the house.18 Her death

occurred one year later. Since then a segment of the



former "Grosvenor Lodge" property has seen the construction
of student apartments and a new road allowance for inter-
section improvement. The mansion itself will soon be
occupied by the Library Board of the City of London to be
used for offices and a museum. "Grosvenor Lodge" thus will
remain as a symbol of upper-middle-class life in 19th-
century London, and as a memorial to Samuel Peters, founder

of London West.



Endnotes:

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

Free Press London, 8 September 1862.

Anne McKillop, "Grosvenor Lodge" in "Our Past Made
Present: Talks given at the unveiling of plaques
erected by the Historic Sites Advisory Committee, 1970-
1972," London Public Library and Art Museum, Occasional
Paper No. xvii (July 1974), p. 10.

Free Press, 8 September 1962.

Anne McKillop, loc. cit.

Free Press, 8 September 1962.

John H. Lutman and John Picur, Report to the London
Heritage Advisory Committee (London, Ont.: Corpora-
tion of the City of London, 1975), pp. 22-23,

"Floods Once Plagued City," Free Press, 1 June 1955.

John H. Lutman and John Picur, op. cit., p. 23.

Free Press, 8 September 1962.

Anne McKillop, loc. cit.

Railton's Directory for the City of London, C.W., 1856-
57 (London, C.W.: Geo. Railton, 1856), p. 178.

F.H. Armstrong and Daniel J. Brock, Reflections on
London's Past (London, Ontario. The Corporation of the
City of London, 1975), p. 23.

Anne McKillop, loc. cit.

F.H. Armstrong and Daniel J. Brock, loc. cit.
Anne McKillop, loc. cit.

Ibid.

Ibid.

Free Press, 26 January 1972.




Canadian Inventory of Hist “ic Building - Historical Building Report

Historian: John H. Lutman

Date: March 1977

Geocode: 06108000700182
City: London, Ontario
Address: 182 York Street

Building Name: Granite Block
(if important)

Source of Title Photo:

CIHB
Building Information
Date cf Construction: 1886-87
Architect:
Ruilder:
Craftsmen (List Type) Bricklayers, stonemasons
Name and occupation of original owner: Charles W. Andrus, assessor for
Notable subsequent owners and reason identified: thé SLLy Bi Lenden
Notable type of occupants:
‘lotable occupants and reason identified: Bowman & Kennedy, wholesale hardwart

H.T. Reason & Co., paper box manufacturers; Raymond Brothers, canvas
products.

Building use: Mercantile, wholesale store

Major building material: Imported red brick; local white brick; cut stone

Alterations: e L

General Nature Date Architect Builder

Comments: 182 York Street is among the last of the many wholesale ware-
houses which once lined York Street, the former centre of London's
wholesale district.
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182 York Street London, Ontario

The warehouse at 182 York Street is one of several ware-
houses that are part of the "Granite Block" (176 to 184
York) which was built in 1886-87 for Charles W. Andrus, the
assessor for the city of London.l The first occupant of
182 York, which is centred in the middle of the building,
was the firm of Bowman & Kennedy, Wholesale Hardware. John
Bowman and William Kennedy had founded the business a few
years before. However, in 1899 John Bowman became the sole
proprietor and expanded the hardware business to include
coal, clay, firebriék, and wood. 2

He left the premises in 1905 and was followed by H.T.
Reason & Co., paper box manufacturers. The firm specialized
in the manufacture of folding boxes, fancy candy boxes,
hosiery boxes, boxes for ladies' silk wear, and jewelry
boxes, as well as bags and stationery. The business was
founded in 1879 by Peter Hendershott, sold to George Baly in
1894 and subsequently purchased by H.T. Reason in 1898.
During the years at 182 York Street, it employed 40 persons
and sold its products throughout Canada.3

The warehouse was vacant in 1923-24, but in 1925 it was

occupied for one year by the Do-More Chair Co. and ever since
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by Raymond Brothers Ltd., canvas products‘4 The latter
concern was established in London in 1907 by Joseph, Alfred,
and George C. Raymond. They manufactured and sold awnings,
flags, tarpaulins, coal bags, feed bags, tents, folding
outdoor furniture, cots, stools, lawn umbrellas, waterproof

horse covers, and countless other canvas goods.5

They
employed between 50 and 60 workers, many of whom were
skilled sail makers. Even today the firm is still prominent
in the local canvas trade.

The "Granite Block" was built in London's wholesale
district, which was centred along York Street east from
Ridout to Wellington. Wholesale houses were attracted to
York Street as early as the 1850s, as the Great Western
Railway (now C N ) tracks were laid parallel to the street.

A York Street location was convenient for travelers and for
the transport of supplies and manufactured products.
Conveniently, 182 York Street faced the railway depot.

Among other wholesalers in the district were those who
specialized in groceries, hardware, tea and coffee, wine and
liquors, millinery, woolens, and lumber.

Previously, the site of the "Granite Block" had been a
wholesale lumber yard, E. Willis & Co. With his brother,
James, William Willis had co-founded the business in 1872.
Willis' was among the more prominent of London's many whole-
sale lumber firms. In the 19th century, few cities in

Ontario were surrounded by a more abundant supply of standing
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timber than London. The yards and mills supplied wood for
London's construction trade and to a large number of
industries which used wood as a raw product.6

Architecturally, the "Granite Block", of which 182 York
Street forms a part, is a four-storey building with a facade
of red brick, topped by a heavy cornice. (In London, red
brick was never made locally, as it instead was brought in
by rail from Hamilton and Milton, Ontario).7 Local white
brick was used elsewhere. Cut stone was also used as a
building material. The building's name, "Granite Block",
which appears in cut stone in the storey above the central
carriage way, was probably derived from the granite founda-
tion blocks and classical pilasters on either side of the
door and first-storey windows. A pair of wrought iron
grills protect the basement windows. The architect and
contractor(s) are unknown.

The building is in generally good condition. 1In
contrast, since World War II the neighbourhood has developed
a rather seedy appearance. Most of the wholesale houses
have been left as abandoned hulks or have been demolished
and been replaced by parking lots. The industries have
decentralized to industrial parks far from downtown and
others have left the city altogether, making London much

less of a wholesale centre than in years past.
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Endnotes:

1l W.A. Goodspeed and C.L. Goodspeed, History of the County
of Middlesex, Canada (Toronto and London, Ontario: W.A.
& C.L. Goodspeed, 1889), p. 409.

2 This information was taken from the city directories of
the period, 1890 to 1899.

3 B.S. Scott, The Economic and Industrial History of the
City of London, Canada, from the Building of the First
Railway, 1855, to the Present, 1930 (unpublished
Master's Thesis, U.W.0., London, Ontario, 1930), pp.
313-314.

4 1bid., p. 277.

5 Vernon's City of London Directory for the Year 1924
(Hamilton: Henry Vernon & Son, 1924), between pp.
504-505.

6 B.S. Scott, op. cit., p. 157.

7 1Ibid., p. 340.



Canadian Inventory of Hist :ic Building

- Historical Building Keport

Historian: John H. Lutman

Date: February 1977

Geocode:06108000800404
City: London, Ontario

Address: 404-406 King Street

Building Name:
(1f {important)

Source of Title Photo:
CIHB

Building Information

Date of Construction: ca. 1875
Architect:
Builder:

Craftsmen (List Type) Bricklayers,

Tne s . 404: William Bryce, book seller
Naine and occupation of original owner: 406: John Millar, oil refiner

Notable subsequent owners and reason identified: John H. Forristal, barrel
manufacturer; William E. Forristal, unlisted
Notable type of occupants: Middle and upper middle class
YNotable occupants and reason identified:
Building use: Original: Residential, double dwelling
Present: Residential, other (rooming house)
Major building material: local white brick
Alterations:
GCencral Nature Date Architect Builder
Front verandah, 1888-1912 v

back porch, small
room on rear wing

Comments:404-406 King Street is a reminder of London's early prominence

as an o0il refining centre, as its most notable subsequent owner, John
H. Forristal, founded the London and Petrolia Barrel Company which made
barrels for the oil industry.
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404-406 King Street London, Ontario

Located on the northwest corner of King and Colborne Streets,
there is some confusion about the date of construction of
404-406 King Street. The city directories and other sources
are not specific, as street numbers were not applied with
any consistency and accuracy until the late 1870s. The
residential double dwelling was built definitely by 1875,
but could have been built as early as the 1850s. The first
known occupant of 406 King Street was John Millar, an oil
refiner, T. & J.C. Millar and Co. and in 1876 a "stoves and
tinware" merchant. The first verifiable resident of 404
King Street was William Bryce, a bookseller of some not in
the city, who lived there in 1877. That there was a
previous residence on the site is possible, as the north
side of King Street between Waterloo and Colborne streets
was developed early.

The most notable owner/occupant was John H. Forristal,
one of the founders of the London and Petrolia Barrel
Company. Forristal and his large family occupied the 406
King Street half in 1887 and, with the exception of the turn
of the century, from 1890 to 1942 occupied 404 King Street

as well. For most of this time only the 406 King Street






